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Licenses

1 Within the scope of this inspection, no violations were observed

those actions at ths time

3 During this inspection certain of your activities, as checked below, were in violation of NRC requirements
THIS iS A NOTICE OF VIOLATION which is required to be posted in accordance with 10 CFR 1911
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labeled 10 indicate the presence of radioactive material. 10 CFR 20.2031f1(1), or (f)(2

I |C e e - . of sealed sources were
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l 2. The inspector also verified the steps you have taken to correct the violations identified during the last inspection. We have ry

D A . B was not properly posted to

ofa : o o 10 CFR 202031t cl, \d

DD Records of L 2 S Lot L . 3 ) E

The inspection was an examination of the activities conducted under your license as they relate 1o radiation safety and 1o comphance with the Nuclear
Regulatory Commissions (NRC) rules and regulations and the conditions of your license. The inspection consisted of selective examinations of procedures

and r resentative records, interviews, with personnel, and observations by the ingpector. The findings as a result of this inspection are as follows
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N accordgance

the NRC

I hereby state that within 30 days the actlons described by me to the inspector will be taken to correct the violations identified n the items checked above
This statement of corrective actions is made in accordance with the requirements of 10 CFR 2 201 No further response will be submitted unless required by

[~ SIGNATURE — LICENSEE DATE SIGNAT URE - NAC INSPECTOR

OATE

R e L ] H L

L

74




g .“/-//- R-AW,CL»/A/

-

- 7

&Am RAC Aferimic ,é
ﬂZ&‘un AN kiEn ldea ol
Lot v W Rgni A
H b L5502

PREST D e ETHLAT O ._‘u, (‘

ﬁnizi«,if i /]zL 134{ |

-@'*/LJ\
L K3 500 A

BECAONA ATTION
Vet ww b Drww .
!
- I &

3~ AL OFOICE WF RS -
. 4
.- b |

A ’
F s - i

C.:ab

PERCEN T ANE
TR ETEN

SHENYID

L'L]TJ‘]JJJ

® I - .
dlpn‘ L -b.n.um

S e |V

[ TOnATE
4 -
| CHArIN

-
L 3
>
—
D
a)
p)

.
-

- il ol
L!ll]JJlJll T
e 5
11 34

- - [ —

4] i _ _ ! ! | . ]
¥ i (
| TCy] WY TSI SRR Ny ey STEp TS Tel Tany SRe S Ty . -
-..v. h

ol Ll

NiART.

MAOCEN N

- e

i
ol
L e - b b

) -

£ i

LA

r

A

A

A

A

'8

»~
» -
r
»

-_L_ — n'
| — ! o . »
g

AN A

- —
r

NUNAEN
CHAFPT IS

o

LT L

e

F T s %3
'[“'NAL/A/. A(

i

| Prrese G

OO KT W , v,;; ~Si ‘(”J'

]
7 = 2
el

~ L0 ‘:!

a§
S .
-~ TED 1T mew oo oWy
g
s LI N L ).4 ~OU
BENT LEe I » - AT
=

e e

= o i . x :
B A o - W e e

AETTER D8 REROET

LI
Ob REC
UTTES ESET

O Ermre

sl

L 8-2 K .
- - e
clel s
eleii

| PERCEINTANE
L oM ETen

EXXR

o

b tand

S
h—'l--h]h-

<r‘ - <

1
—
-
1
i

4

£ 5.1 3

1.
11 JJ,.....

RO———
WENT Sl DATE

W (SRS

- - B ANOw 1

1aidsat!

- . - L W . e (T
byl 4]

4
' A

LIS N s e ¥ el
(SN Sawowe  Renor
g b com)

| A

TRANSM T A LaTE

MAN A

QJLqu

b
ERENES
1 ‘ ]J,J_J
’;JJAJ l<
sl
adaad
a sl
v bl
)] , l.l.J<
o daal
a bl

1o laall

a




NRC Form 591

'a8
1I0CFR 2 201
” -

U.S NUCLEAR REGULATORY COMMISSION

SAFETY INSPECTION

1 LICENSEF

General Electric Company
Mountain View Road

Lynchburg, Yirginia 25502

2 REGIONAL OFFICE

u.s. h:}ur Regulatory Commission
on

101 Marietta St., Suite 2900

Atlanta, GA 30303

3 DOCKET NUMBERI(S ‘4 ENSE NUMBE RIS Ie DATE OF INSPECTION a1
1
|
030-12857 ( 45-17505-01 .
e — - rm— - J - _-———_————#
Licensee
T he 5 % YN he a 3%
Regu N &gu s @ $
| reprase hg
b
1 With p f this nspec no v INS We 2oser
-
| 4 3%y
-
ot N
WL |
THIS IS A NOTICE OF VIOLATION which s
r
|
1
| IR 3 ae
) press » of radwoact
[ g
sy | § ’
10
[ E.D perly posted or otherwise made ava
il
[ F Reports or notfications of -
with 10 CFR 5@ nd N *
I+
]
n
AL S Tl e PP - , all
| hersby state that within 30 days the actions described by me 1o the Inspector e taker ect the v at f . N ¢
This statamant of corrective actions is made in accordance with the requlrements of 10 CFR 2 No further res $
the NRAC
T SIGNATUAE ~ LICENSEE L DATE SIGNATURE NRAC INSPECTOR { OATE




